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                                   18th March, 2019
O R D E R

The Delhi Medical Council through its Disciplinary Committee examined a complaint of Shri Premdatt Chopra, r/o- 937, Sector-A, Pocket-C, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi, alleging medical negligence on the part of doctors of Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital, Sector-B, Pocket-1, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi-110070, in the treatment administered to the complainant’s wife Mrs. Ish Chopra at Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital, resulting in her death at Max Hospital, where she was subsequently treated.  

The Order of the Disciplinary Committee dated 21st February, 2019 is reproduced herein-below :-

“The Disciplinary Committee of the Delhi Medical Council examined a complaint of Shri Premdatt Chopra, r/o- 937, Sector-A, Pocket-C, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi (referred hereinafter as the complainant), alleging medical negligence on the part of doctors of Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital, Sector-B, Pocket-1, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi-110070, in the treatment administered to the complainant’s wife Mrs. Ish Chopra(referred hereinafter as the patient) at Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital (referred hereinafter as the said hospital), resulting in her death at Max Hospital, where she was subsequently treated.  

The Disciplinary Committee perused the complaint, written statement written of Dr. Hemant Tewari, Joint written statement of Dr. Gurinder Bedi and Dr. Shalini Bhalla, Medical Superintendent, copy of medical records of Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital and Max Super Specialty Hospital, Press Enclave, Saket, New Delhi-110017 and other documents on record

The following were heard in person:-
1) Shri Premdatt Chopra
Complainant 
2) Dr. Gurinder Bedi
Director, Orthpaedics, Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan 


Dhall Hospital

3) Dr. Hemant Tiwari
Ex-consultant, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall 



Hospital

4) Dr. Upendra Kaul
Consultant, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall 



Hospital

5) Dr. Renu Achtani
Senior Consultant Neurology, Fortis Flt. 


L.T. RajanDhall Hospital

6) Dr. Vivek Nangia
Director, Pulmonology, Fortis Flt. L.T. 


Rajan Dhall Hospital

7) Dr. Sonali Vatsa
Medical Superintendent, Fortis Flt. L.T. 


Rajan Dhall Hospital

The Disciplinary Committee noted that as per the complaint, the patient the complainant’s wife late Ish Chopra aged 74 years, female complained of common cough and cold to the complainant Shri Premdatt Chopra, who thereupon took her to Fortis FLT LT Rajan Dhall Hospital.  The patient was directed to consult with Dr. Hemant Tiwari who was a consultant for pulmonary and thoracic surgery at the said Hospital.  The patient was advised to stay in the hospital for 2-3 days, so that further investigations and tests could be conducted upon her.  After the prescribed treatment and tests, the patient was discharged on 04/04/2014.  On 08/04/2014, the patient fractured the ankle of her left leg and was taken to Fortis Hospital for treatment again. Dr. Gurinder Bedi who is an orthopedic surgeon at the Fortis Hospital, suggested that the patient could also undergo right knee transplantation along with the surgery for the left ankle fracture.  The suggestion was accepted by complainant and the patient, as they had faith in the doctor.  But in-reality there took place, gross malpractice which created severe problems for the patient.  Firstly, she was advised for two major surgeries together.  Secondly, when an orthopedic surgeon looked into her case on 9/04/2014, he expressed the opinion that there is swelling in the fractured area; hence, the surgery should not be done for another 5 
days. The evaluation from the orthopedic surgeon was ignored and operation was conducted within two days instead of opined 5 days.  Thirdly, the patient was admitted under the supervision of pulmonology department instead of orthopedic department of the Fortis Hospital. Fourthly, the anesthetist clearly evaluated that the patient is a high-risk case.  The doctors at Fortis Hospital ignored the risk factor for the sake of making quick money and conducted two surgeries upon the patent.  This unnecessarily, prolonged the time during which the patient was under anesthesia, in spite of the warning from the anesthetist.  Such actions of the team at the Fortis Hospital exposed the patient to the risk of deep vein thrombosis and lung related issues like pneumonia. The surgeries initiated the cycle of infections, mistreatments, deliberate malpractices which have ultimately led to the death of the patient.  The complainant sent an email to Mr. Sihvinder Singh, Vice Chairman of the Fortis Hospital bringing various malpractices to his notice.  On 15/04/2014, the patient’s blood calcium was running low according to the laboratory report; the doctor who was overseeing the patient took no remedial measures.  As a result, the patient developed abnormal movements after 17 hours or so. This forced, the doctor to administer a dose of calcium intravenously, so that the situation could be corrected. Such delay and laid-back attitude of the doctor constitutes malpractice and negligence.  The Fortis Hospital team had assured the complainant that the patient will be able to walk without problems soon after her discharged on 22/04/2014. The duration of stay of the patient was 14 days and the bill amounted to Rs.7,09,920/-.  But in spite of all assurances, the patient was unable to walk properly and was in constant pain.  The patient developed infections and complications due to the wrong manner in which the surgeries were conducted.  She had to be readmitted on the advice of Dr. Hemant Tiwari in the Fortis Hospital on2/06/2014for a length of 42 days. During the period, the complainant found that Dr. Hemant Tiwari was indulging in malpractices and actions of his were reported to the concerned hospital authorities via email.  Upon filing of complaint to the Administration by the complainant, the hospital administration found Dr. Hemant Tiwari guilty of malpractice and mistreatment. Dr. Hemant Tiwari had to submit his resignation as a result thereof.  In spite of 42 days of stay in the hospital, the patient went on battling with infections and complications which arose due to unnecessary surgeries previously conducted.  As the complainant had filed the complaint with Mr. Sihvinder Singh, who is the Vice- Chairman of the Fortis Hospital, the authorities were vary of the complainant and deputed Mr. Udyan Dravid, the Director to get rid of the complainant and the patient. The complainant stated that the patient is still weak and is not in a condition to be moved. The Fortis Hospital authorities created such an atmosphere to scare the complainant by saying that the patient would contract even more infections if she continues to stay in the hospital.  Believing the bona-fide intention of the doctors, the complainant took the patient home.  While discharging the patient, Mr. Udyan Dravid admitted the Fortis Hospital team's fault in treatment of the patient and assured the complainant that the hospital authorities would give heavy discount in the total bill. On insistence from the complainant regarding the weak condition of the patient, Mr. Udyan Dravid made three promises; First, that Fortis Hospital will provide all the required medical equipment at home to sustain the patient free of cost; second, the doctors will tend to the patient at home without any visiting fees; and third, two nurses (to be paid by the Fortis Hospital) will be deputed round the clock for care of the patient. Fourth, the complainant was asked to write glowing references via email about the doctors who have treated the patient.  It is evident from the director’s promise that the Fortis Hospital has accepted its failure in treatment of the patient and admitted blatant malpractices.  Also, if a greedy corporate hospital was voluntarily giving discount the total bill, it implies that they are admitting guilt after causing irreparable damage to the patient’s health. The bill amounted to Rs. 26,68,275/- and the discount given was Rs. 11,18,275/-.  In reality, neither the medical equipment was provided nor was any nurses deputed by the Fortis Hospital.  Only the doctors visited the complainant's house to throw a cursory glance at the patient. The complainant himself purchased all the required medical equipment and total employed nurses which cost him a of Rs. 8,00,000/-. The patient’s condition did not improve at home and, hence, the visiting doctors requested the Fortis Hospital to readmit the patient, so thatproper attention could be paid to her.  The complainant sent the bill of nurses and medical equipment to the Fortis Hospital for the purposes of reimbursement but the Fortis Hospital was unwilling to settle it.  On repeated request of the complainant, Mr. Udyan Dravid, the Director said that as the finance department is not inclined to clear the bills for reimbursement, the best solution would be to admit the patient to the hospital without any charge.  Hence, the patient was re-admitted to the Fortis Hospital again on 10/8/2014. But, eventually the complainant was asked to pay huge bills which were being raised by the hospital.  When the complainant appealed to Mr. Dravid, he was rudely given a reply that Vice-Chairman Mr. Sihvinder Singh, has said that no free treatment will be given and if bills are not paid immediately, the complainant will be responsible for death of the patient.  The complainant somehow managed to arrange for funds to be able to pay for the treatment.  The complainant informed Mr. Sihvinder Singh over email to make him aware of the malpractices in the hospital on 25/8/2014. The patient was discharged after 23days long stay on 02/09/2014andthe bill amounted to Rs.10,54,176/- was paid by the complainant.  The patient had to be readmitted inthe Fortis Hospital due to reduced right limb movement on 1/12/2014.CT scan revealed that there was an old infarction in the brain. This brain infarct was also seen during August, 2014 during the treatment wherein the Fortis Hospital doctor had prescribed that no blood thinner should be given to the patient, as the bleeding in the brain may occur.  The patient stayed for two days i.e. from 01/12/2014 to 03/12/2014. The complainant was charged Rs.66,500/.On the night of 25//01/2015, the patient became violently ill due to a stroke.  She was rushed to the Fortis Hospital.   The doctors found that she has reduced blood supply in the right leg which had been operated upon unnecessarily for knee replacement earlier. Reports revealed that there was blockage of blood vessels in the leg.  The patient was referred to Dr. Sanjay Gupta for treatment of blocked blood vessel. Fortis Hospital committed fraud by representing Dr. Sanjay Gupta as a vascular surgeon, who in reality was a cardiac surgeon. He (Dr. Sanjay Gupta) advised the patient not to opt for surgery of the blocked vessel of the right leg.  A vascular surgeon had the right to make such a decision, whereas Dr. Sanjay Gupta took the liberty of making the decision for which he was not qualified. Another cardiologist Dr. Upendra Kaul and Dr. Renu Achtani, prescribed a blood thinner known as Pradaxa clearly ignoring the existing brain infarction which had the potential to cause bleeding in the brain if any blood thinner is administered to the patient. The complainant’s worse fears came true when there was visible bleeding from the patient’s skin and wounds due to the blood thinner Pradaxa.  Very much to the distress of the complainant, the patient’s condition was deteriorating continuously in front of his eyes due to mistreatment by the doctors. When the complainant researched on the medicine Pradaxa, it was found that the drug has strong side effects and is one among the dangerous blood thinners.  It has been responsible for death of more than 500 patients in USA.  When the complainant brought this shocking fact in knowledge of the Fortis Hospital Authorities, administration of the drug was stopped. But in spite of complainant sending an SMS to Mr. Sihvinder Singh, about the notorious drug, Pradaxa was given to the patient.  The blood thinner led to bleeding in the brain causing loss of speech of the patient.  Eventually, the patient succumbed to coma due to continued bleeding.  In another clearly documented instance of medical negligence, a nurse Ms. Iamguali attempted to give double dose of insulin which would have caused hypoglycemia and may have resulted in death of the patient, but she was stopped in time owing to the alertness of the complainant. The proof of this negligence is the apology letter rendered by the said nurse after the incidence.  As the patient could not swallow on her own, she was put on by Ryle’stube feeding which potentially runs a risk of causing lung infection. To avoid such infection, the doctor’s planned to conduct PEG i.e. per cutaneous endoscopic gastronomy which would lower the risk of lung infection.  But as it was found that the patient had been administered with Pradaxa previously, PEG could not be conducted.  The patient was fed by Ryle’s tube for a lengthy period of one and half month which is not advocated by established medical principles.  The Fortis Hospital team could realize that they had played with a woman’s life and rendered her on the brink of death, so they created pressure on the complainant by threatening him to take the patient back home, even when the complainant protested by saying that the patient is in no condition to be taken home. The Fortis Hospital made them take the patient home on03/03/2015and tried to pacify the client by giving him discount of Rs.1,56,000/- on the bill which amounted to Rs. 12,44,829/- for the treatment which lasted 36 days.  The patient was in no condition to be discharged, yet was forcibly discharged for the Fortis Hospital and her condition at home started going from bad to worse and on 14.03.2015, it became terrible.  Around 9.30 AM in the morning seeing the patient’s condition, the complainant rushed to Dr. Khanduja who lives in the locality of the complainant, who there-upon was advised to call an ambulance immediately.  That upon reaching the Fortis Hospital, the hospital staff pointblank refused to even take the patient out of the ambulance, even though she was writhing in pain and needed urgent admission emergency medical care. The Hospital staff refused stating that their superiors have told them not to de-board the patient from the ambulance, as she is not to be admitted at any cost.  Stunned by this behavior, the complainant called Dr. Shalini Bhalla, Medical Superintendent but she also bluntly refused to admit the patient.  The complainant pleaded to Ms. Shalini Bhalla that the patient has been patient of the Hospital from past one year and had been admitted for around 120 days and all her medical records and history were lying with the Fortis Hospital. Dr. Bhalla told the complainant that there is no bed available to be given to this particular patient.  The complainant was totally distraught by the behavior of the administration, he called Mr. Sihvinder Singh, but even before the complainant could speak, he said no bed can be given to admit the patient and neither can she be admitted to the emergency ward.  The complainant said that he had not even spoken to request admission yet, but it appears that Mr. Sihvinder Singh was fully briefed to refuse admission.  On hearing this, Mr. Singh cut the phone call.  Dr. Anil Gandhi who was accompanying the complainant, called Ms. Bhalla and told her that this is grossly illegal behavior and delayed treatment in poor condition of the patient may result in her death.  Upon this, Dr. Bhalla spoke to Dr. Gandhi very rudely and cut his call and explicitly told him that bed will not be given to the patient.  Upon seeing the deteriorating condition of the patient, the complainant was left with no option but to take the patient to another Hospital in the same ambulance.  It is pertinent to mention here that the patient had to lie in the ambulance suffering pain for more than 4 hours due to apathy of the Fortis Hospital.  The complainant then took the ambulance to Max Hospital where the patient succumbed to death after two days of struggle on 16/03/2015.  The doctors of Max Hospital were unaware of her medical history, illness, reaction to medicines, past treatment and thus they found themselves helpless to assist the patient.  The patient underwent months of agony and was treated as a guinea pig.  The complainant suffered extreme mental and emotional distress seeing the patient’s worsening condition and her eventual death which occurred due to mistreatment meted out by the Fortis Hospital.  The complainant did the best he could under the circumstances and almost spent Rs.80 lakhs in the hopes of saving the patient.  The hospital seems to give priority to quick and easy money rather than valuing human life.  They displayed their ugly face by refusing to admit their own regular patient who had spent 118days in the hospital already. Such act was done in spite of being aware of her extremely critical condition.  

The complainant further alleged the hospital and its doctors, in furtherance of their negligence, administered wrong medicine to the patient which contributed to her unfortunate demise.  The patient was administered medicine for deep vein thrombosis, without ever diagnosing the same. The medication for DVT was stopped only upon conducting an x-ray which showed a fracture in the left ankle.  Further, the hospital and the doctors convinced him that the patient needed a knee replacement surgery on her right leg.  The orthopedic surgeon had suggested delaying the surgery of the left ankle by at least 5 days as there was swelling in the left ankle.  Also, the anesthetist had recommended the surgery of the patient as high risk.  Despite this, the hospital and its doctors insisted upon conducting both the surgeries, i.e., left ankle and right knee, together.  Further, after the knee replacement surgery, during her recovery, the patient was administered the drug Pradaxa which has severe side effects and has resulted in deaths on a number of occasions.  In fact, the drug has been a controversial issue of several litigations in the United States of America, as this drug has been involved in the deaths of over 500 people in America.  In fact, this drug has been banned in several countries including the United Kingdom.  Due to the use of this drug, the patient suffered from loss of speech and continuous hematuria (blood in urine).Also, one particular doctor, namely, Dr. Hemant Tiwari, was found to be very negligent in his approach towards the treatment of the patient.  He had to complain against this doctor and pursuant to his complaint, the doctor was told to resign from the hospital by the Fortis.  In fact, the hospital recognized the negligent conduct of the doctor and asked him to resign.  On one occasion the patient’s stayed in the hospital for 42 days.  This prolonged stay was clearly attributable to the negligent practices of the hospital and its doctors.  Further, on 15.04.2014, the calcium level of the patient was 8.1.  The normal reference calcium level is 8.5 to 10.1.  Despite the calcium level being so low, the hospital and its doctors took no steps, and on the very next day, i.e., 16.04.2014, the patient suffered with excruciating pain and twitching of facial muscles.  This was caused due to low calcium levels.  Similarly, on another occasion, he caught a nurse administering wrong dosage of insulin to the patient.  He persuaded to complain to the doctors and the nurse had to give a written apology to him.  Also, once he noted that the patient was being given excessive salt.  He enquired with the nurse, who told him that the patient was being given 5mg of salt with each feed, and she was receiving 10feeds in a day.  Therefore, the patient was effectively receiving 50 mg of salt every day.  In fact, the nurse informed him that the patient was being given 50 mg of salt for the past 3 days. Upon re-confirming this with the doctor, it was found that the patient was supposed to receive on 10mg salt in a day.  On 14.03.2015, the hospital refused to admit the patient for the treatment.  The hospital said that it had no vacant beds; however, it later transpired that only 105 beds out of the total150 beds were occupied and the rest were vacant.  Despite this, the patient was not allowed to be admitted into the hospital.  To cover up their medical negligence, the hospital gave them an exorbitant discount of over Rs. 11,00,000/- (Rupees Eleven Lakh Only), and all these records have already been provided to the Delhi Medical Council vide his complaint dated 03.12.2015.  To keep them from going to court, the hospital even offered to them that he should take the patient home and they would provide two nurses and regular doctor visits at his home. However, this was never done.  The detailed facts of medical negligence have already been given in his complaint.  

It is noted that as per the written statement of Dr. Hemant Tewari, Ex-consultant, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital the patient late Ish Chopra was admitted under the supervision of Pulmonology Department, Fortis Hospital.  It is mentioned that the patient had been discharged just 4 days back from the hospital where she had been admitted under him for breathlessness, cough and swelling of the legs which was diagnosed to be due to an exacerbation of her chronic lung, heart and kidney disease (stage 3), hence, possibility of a relapse or recurrence of the same problem needed to be ruled out in this admission as well. The complainant had thus himself insisted for the patient to be admitted again under him, as he was familiar with her medical history.  Further, on 8th April, 2014, the patient presented to the Fortis hospital with history of dizziness for 2 days followed by a fall wherein she twisted her left ankle and also developed swelling and pain in the left lower leg.  She was admitted under pulmonology team, as she also needed to be investigated and managed for dizziness which can have diverse etiologies (causes) in the elderly people like low B.P, low blood sugar, infection and abnormal heart rhythms especially with underlying chronic medical conditions.  It would be pertinent to mention that the patient had been discharged just 4 days back- from the hospital where she had been admitted under him for breathlessness, cough and swelling of the legs which was diagnosed to be due to an exacerbation of her chronic lung, heart and kidney disease (stage 3), hence, possibility of a relapse or recurrence of the same problem needed to be ruled out in this admission as well.  The complainant has tried to float an impression in the complaint that his wife was medically fit prior to April 2014 and all of a sudden developed complication leading to her death in March, 2015 due to the negligence of the doctors and the hospital. However, what the complainant has suppressed is the vital fact that the patient was in a fragile state of health prior to 2009, when he started treating her and continued to have certain age-related chronic illness after 2009.  The patient, aged about 67 years in 2009 was suffering from the open cholecystectomy in 1984; major accident resulting in fracture of mandible and severe dental trauma following which plating of mandible was done in years before 2009, pulmonary tuberculosis in 2009 for which she required ICU admission lasting 2weeks, severe reaction to anti-tubercular medication causing acute hepatitis which required another ICU admission for two weeks, hypertension (HTN) for over seven years, diabetes mellitus (DM type 2) for over seven years, right knee osteoarthritis causing difficulty in ambulation since prior to 2009, chronic kidney disease (CKD), osteoporosis and chronic obstructive airway disease (COPD).  The complainant has suppressed the fact that the complainant and his family were considering knee replacement of the patient at least 6 months prior to April 2014 due to her limited mobility which was exacerbating her co-morbid conditions and the excruciating pain that she was under and tests could be conducted upon her.  The fact of the matter is that the patient had multiple morbidities and a history of pulmonary tuberculosis.  In these circumstances, any symptom of chest infection could not be left uninvestigated.  Furthermore, the first admission of the patient to Fortis from 2/4/14 to 4/4/14was not just for cough and cold but breathlessness, cough and swelling of feet which turned out to be due to a combination of exacerbation of her chronic kidney, heart and lung problems.  It is further pertinent to mention that this fact had been known to the patient and the complainant as well and they were themselves keen on detailed investigation of the persistent cough, cold and breathlessness and that so, under a round the clock observation of a medical team in the hospital.  It is submitted that the expenses incurred by the complainant were Rs. 23,302/- and another Rs.65,404/- were paid by Park Mediclaim TPA Pvt. Ltd.  The total bill amount was Rs. 88,706/. It is submitted here that Late the patient was admitted to hospital on 08/04/2014 stating that she had pain in her left ankle after a fall due to dizziness. She was subsequently investigated for twisted ankle, cause of dizziness and to rule out deep vein thrombosis as there was a history of recent air travel. It is admitted that Dr. Gurinder Bedi who is an orthopedic surgeon at the Fortis Hospital, suggested that the patient could also undergo right knee transplantation along with the surgery for the left ankle fracture. It is denied that the suggestion was accepted by the complainant and the patient, as they had faith in the doctor.  Rather, it is further submitted that the decision for right knee transplantation was an informed decision that was taken by the complainant and the patient.  The complainant had thus himself insisted for the patient to be admitted again under him, as he was familiar with her medical history.  There was history of long-distance air travel which can predispose the elderly to deep vein thrombosis (clots in the deep veins) which can also cause pain and swelling of the legs. Hence, a differential diagnosis of DVT was made pending further investigations and accordingly, the treatment was also commenced for the same.  Nevertheless, no time was lost in the investigations relating to a fracture, as the fracture diagnosis was made at 6.00 p.m.  The patient was transferred under the care of the orthopedic department for the surgical treatment on 11/4/14 after she was medically stabilized for the surgery. It is pertinent to mention here that he acted with total due care and caution at that time with good faith and always looking for the best possible results in the interest of the patient.  It is pertinent to mention that on 8th April, 2014, the patient was admitted to Fortis hospital for treatment of twisted ankle.  Besides fracture, she also needed to be investigated for the cause of dizziness and to rule out deep vein thrombosis which can potentially complicate into pulmonary embolism (clot in the lungs). This is precisely the reason why the patient was not admitted under the supervision of orthopedic department at the first instance. On that day, the medicines were started at 4.00 p.m. in the evening.  The patient was then seen by the orthopedic team at 6.00 p.m.  This was followed by the x-ray and the fracture diagnosis was made.  However, deep vein thrombosis was ruled out only at 2.00 a.m. the next day, when the deep vein thrombosis medicines were immediately stopped.  It is further submitted that the mineral levels of the patient were being monitored regularly, and the levels on 15/4/2014was marginally low at 8.4 (normal range 8.5 – 10.1 according to the lab report) and within the usually presumed margins of error and without any clinical symptoms and therefore, did not require immediate intervention. The next test was carried out as the clinical symptoms of the deficiency surfaced and IV calcium was given immediately to manage it.  In any event, this deficiently is not at all even remotely linked to the injury being complained of by the complainant or the exacerbation of the morbid conditions or the death of the patient.   It is denied that the patient developed infections and complications due to the wrong manner in which the surgeries were conducted.  It is admitted that she had to be re-admitted on his advice in the Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital on 02/06/2014for a possible chest infection; however, it is incorrect and misleading to suggest that his advice was for admission for a length of 42 days and, therefore, this assertion is specifically denied. It is submitted that the he did not advice the patient be admitted for a long duration of 42 days.  It is further submitted that during this period of stay of the patient at Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital Mrs. Ish Chopra was under direct care and supervision for a period of one week only i.e. only up-to 8/6/14.  For the remaining duration of the stay of the patient, Dr. Nangia was supervising her treatment after a written request by the complainant. It is denied that during the period, the complainant found that he was indulging in malpractices.  The letter by the complainant leveling allegations against him is a matter of record, but he denies every allegation contained in the said letter.  It is pertinent to mention here that there was no delay in establishing diagnosis when the patient was admitted on 2nd June, 2014 and appropriate treatment was commenced by him as per protocols.  Furthermore, the patient was stable on the medications which were being given and there is no evidence of deterioration in clinical condition which would have triggered anxiety in the complainant’s mind.  It is submitted that there was constant interference in the medical management of the patient by the relatives (sisters of patient) who had taken it upon themselves to decide the line of management and were expecting VIP treatment for themselves from the hospital staff thus playing a big role in sowing seeds of suspicion and mistrust in the mind of the complainant which made him anxious.  It is submitted that no unnecessary investigation was done and correct treatment was given to the patient, hence allegations of malpractice and negligence are entirely fabricated and not substantiated by even a shred of evidence.  It is pertinent to mention here that a decision to change the physician, either taken by the hospital or the patient does not prove misconduct on part of the doctor, if not supported by clear proof of wrongdoing.  In this case the decision to change the physician was purely personal and no malpractice of any kind can be attributed to him.   Furthermore, he was not involved in the care of the patient for the remaining duration of her stay in the hospital.  It is denied that upon filing of complaint to the administration by the complainant, the hospital administration found Dr. Hemant Tiwari guilty of malpractice and mistreatment.  It is further denied that Dr. Hemant Tewari had to submit his resignation as a result thereof.  It is submitted that feeling indignant he made the difficult decision to resign from the Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital as the false allegations had caused immense mental agony to him as his professional integrity had been questioned despite having looked after the patient for a long period of 5 years like family.  It is denied that in spite of 42 days of stay in the hospital, the patient went on battling with infections and complications which arose due to unnecessary surgeries previously conducted.  It is further stated that a usual combination of only 2 antibiotics were given to the patient at a time in succession.  Therefore, the discharge summary contains names of four antibiotics (and not 5 as stated by the complainant in the complaint).  It is pertinent to mention that the said antibiotics were given in combination of twos and the first pair of antibiotics were discontinued before the second pair was started. A combination of Tazact and Claribid was given from 8/4/14 to 15/4/14 to prevent infection secondary to her fracture and surgery.  It is further pertinent to mention here that the patient had developed fever in the post-operative period and the urine test was suggestive of urine infection. Urine infection in elderly patients can complicate into urosepsis.  This could have been fatal for the patient and was not to be taken lightly, hence, a combination of two different antibiotics were used to treat the urine infection. The previous antibiotics were stopped as they had, already been given for a duration of one week and a combination of Monocef and Metrogyl was started and given from 16/4/14 to 21/14/14. At the cost of repetition, it is emphatically stated that at no point of time were all 4 antibiotics being administered simultaneously to the patient and the doses had been reduced to half of maximum considering her chronic kidney disease. This clearly establishes that the treating doctors were alive to the patient’s overall conditions and exercised their best judgment in the given circumstance.  It is further averred that when the complainant has lost the patient after fighting a long battle with numerous life-threatening diseases, the complainant has filed this frivolous and false complaint against him, purpose of harassing him, maligning his professional reputation through this Hon’ble Council. The present complaint should be dismissed in respect of him being false and frivolous.  In the facts and circumstances of the instant reply to complaint, he graciously prays before this Hon’ble Council to quash the complaint dated 03.12.2015 filed on 29.12.2015 in respect of him in totality being false, frivolous and concoction of fabricated facts.  

Dr. Hemant Tewari further stated that the patient Smt. Ish Chopra 73 years female who has past history of hypertension and diabetic mellitus was admitted on 2nd April, 2014 in the Department of Pulmonology, Sleep Medicine & Medical ICI, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital with chief complaints of breathlessness of four-five days duration, cough with minimal expectoration of 4-5 days and pedal edema.  He was the senior consultant who was in charge of this patient.  She was diagnosed as a case of LVF, HTN type II DM, CKD and osteoporosis.  She was managed with IV diuretics, bronchodilator nebulization, IV antibiotics, oxygen and other supportive medications.  Blood tests showed Hb 9.6, TLC 9400, creatinine 1.8, normal electrolytes and liver functions.  HbA1C is 6.6.  Stress thallium done which was negative.  USG abdomen done showed renal calculi, increased parenchymal echogenicity of bilateral kidney.  Nephrology opinion was taken for increased creatinine (2.0) and advised incorporated.  2D echo showed EF of 60% with normal LV function.  Creatinine started coming down, iron studies were low.   She was discharged on 4th April, 2014 on medication.  

He also stated that subsequent to a fall, the patient was second time admitted in Department of Pulmonology, Sleep Medicine & Medical ICI, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital on 8th April, 2014 with complaints of dizziness for two days, fall two times while walking yesterday and today, pain and swelling left lower leg since today morning.  An orthopedics referral was also sought.  Dr. Gurinder Bedi provided the orthopedic treatment.  He also stated that on a complaint being made against him by the complainant Shri Premdatt Chopra for not being satisfied with the treatment provided by him, authorities of Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital terminated his services and, hence, he was not involved in subsequent treatments of the patient late Ish Chopra at Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital.

On being asked by the Disciplinary Committee as to whether Dr. Hemant Tewari had examined or treated the patient on OPD basis prior to her admission on 2nd April, 2014, Dr. Hemant Tewari stated that since he and the complainant Shri Premdatt Chopra had social relationship, he used to pay visits to the home of the complainant Shri Premdatt Chopra on social occasions, and there sometime the complainant Shri Premdatt Chopra used to seek informal medical consultation regarding the health of the patient late Ish Chopra.  As per his knowledge, the patient late Ish Chopra was under the treatment of one Dr. K.P.T Shah.

The complainant confirmed that he used to have social relationship with Dr. Hemant Tewari and that Dr. Hemant Tewari used to meet him on social occasions.  

Dr. Gurinder Bedi, Director, Orthpaedics, Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital stated that prior to the patient second admission on 8th April, 2014, he had seen the patient on quite a few occasions, in the past, in the outpatient clinic for her longstanding knee problem.  Various non-operative techniques and medications like pain killer (tablet paracetamol 650 mg, tablet-Ultracet, Voveran gel) were tried but her pain was persistent.  She was referred to him by Dr. Hemant Tiwari for her knee problems.  he, hence, thought about the possibility of knee replacement and the patient was given time to ponder over it.  This was more so also because her modality was getting restricted and given her background of being a diabetic and chronic chest problem, which was very bad for her health.  Unfortunately, she then sustained a fracture after minimal trauma and got admitted in the hospital on 8th April, 2014.  The patient had come with pain and swelling her leg and ankle on 8th April, 2014 and was seen by Dr. Tiwari, consultant, pulmonologist in the hospital, as the complainant himself insisted to be admitted under Dr. Tiwari, as the complainant seemed to share comfortable equation and relation with Dr. Tiwari and Dr. Tiwari used to privately see the patient as well.  The said doctor had diagnosed this as being a clot in the veins and she was investigated for this.  When test like D-Dimers, Doppler, etc. were done they did not reveal any peripheral venous clots.  Thereafter, he saw the patient and diagnosed her as having an ankle fracture after an x-ray.  He being familiar with her previous condition of the legs noted that there was no significant swelling and she could be taken up for surgery.  This is more of a subjective assessment.  He is a senior orthopedic surgeon and has the vide experience and knowledge in this field.  As per his assessment, she did not have much swelling and was suitable for the operation.  The treating doctors were aware of all her co-morbidities regarding her chest and other conditions such as DM, HT.  Her situation would have worsened had she been stuck to the bed with a painful ankle and an arthritic knee. This would have further worsened her chest condition. The options available were whether to go for fixation for the ankle fracture alone which was deemed essential; or fix the ankle fracture and sort out the knee arthritis alongside.  If the patient was operated on her ankle alone, she would have been stuck to the bed, as she would not have been able to move around taking full weight on her arthritic knee alone.  She was anyway planned to get regional anesthesia rather than general anesthesia, with only her legs being numbed.  After detailed discussion with the patient and the complainant, it was decided to go for both procedures together under single anesthesia to let the patient walk on her replaced knee and taking the whole weight on the leg.  As regards, the patient being a high-risk case, it is stated that the patient was high risk irrespective of single or double surgery given her medical co-morbidities and procedure of single knee replacement itself is not very intrusive and can be done with just peripheral regional anesthesia which she was anyway going to get for ankle treatment.  It was an attempt to rehabilitate this poor lady and relieve as many medical issues which could be sorted in this admission. Family was well aware of this and had agreed with this plan.  As will be noted the family was well educated and had enough contacts in the medical fraternity to make a measured decision. Medical consultation was done with the cardiologist/pulmonologist and nephrologist before undertaking the operative procedure in11.04.2014.  She was then mobilized quickly enough and even by 14.04.2014, she was sitting in her bed.  By 16.04.2014, she was managing to walk with a walker.  The operation was carried out successfully and she had no issue with either the ankle fracture or the knee replacement.  At no time was she noted to have any would healing issues.  She did have prolonged stay but it was more to manage her chest condition.  As noted in records, she settled down well and was soon transferred to pulmonology team for her care.  She was subsequently discharged from the hospital on 22.04.2014.  The Patient and her family were quite happy with the outcome and mentioned it on a number of occasions.  In a letter written by the complainant, he states the complainant’s satisfaction with the replacement surgery and plaster of the left ankle by him.  The patient never suffered DVT nor did the patient suffer from any of the alleged medical conditions as have been was already stated by the complainant due to the surgery of her knee or ankle.  The patient was already known to have multiple co-morbidities, as is evidenced in all her medical records and repeated admissions.  None of the orthopedic surgeries are known to cause lung related illnesses and neither did she develop DVT, as evidenced on the Doppler study.  Also, neither of the surgeries-initiated infections of any sort that the patient was known to have due to her medical condition in any case, neither was the orthopedic surgery deliberate malpractice nor any of the treatment given to her in any of her admissions.  

Dr. Upendra Kaul, Consultant, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital stated that on 26.01.2015, the patient was admitted with abnormal behavior and headache and fixed gaze.  She was diagnosed as fresh stroke in the left postero-parietotemporal region which was causing the sensory aphasia (not able to understand what was being spoken to her) and her speech was also jargoned, as evidenced on the initial examination. The patient continued with both these symptoms, as expected, due to injury caused by the stroke to the brain tissue. She was also a known case of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation.  Multi Focal emboli are known to occur with Atrial Fibrillation.  The right femoral block was a complication of the atrial fibrillation. This, hence, being the reason, she needed a blood thinner in the hospital-different from the earlier one prescribed. She was put on Pradaxa and Clexane, Pradaxa is better than Warfarin or Acitrom.This was a guideline-based treatment to try and prevent further emboli.  The blockage in the leg was because of the atrial fibrillation throwing multiple foci embolus.  The patient had presented with loss of speech at admission and that is evidenced over and over again in the medical record. This was due to her fresh stroke in the area controlling speech.  She continued to have that symptom due to the same reason and damage to that area.  This was definitely not the result of the treatment or the surgery.  

He further stated that the patient did bleed from her anus and urine thereafter, however, the anal bleeding was investigated by the gastroenterologist and found to be due to anal excoriation and no internal bleeding from the intestines was suspected. The anal bleeding stopped within a day on the 28.01.2015. The hematuria (blood inurine) continued but Pradaxa had already been stopped on the 28.01.2015.  The patient did not have another stroke due to the anti-coagulants (Pradaxa) given to her, as claimed by Mr. Chopra.  It is submitted that a multi-disciplinary meeting was held on 30.01.2015 to discuss clinical course with the family and all clinicians attending the patient attended and the minutes of the meeting clearly documented that Pradaxa is withdrawn.  It is also clearly documented in the Multi Disciplinary Committee meeting where by the neurological consequences were explained.  The family and the patient representative were also counseled on the management of the lower limb thrombus and the need to give blood thinners for stroke which could no longer be given, as she had ongoing hematuria.  The expected poor quality of life and need for extended care was also clearly explained to them.  They were also explained on the current limitations of the further course of action and the risks associated with surgery for the lower limb thrombus.  The meeting was attended by the complainant and several family members and was signed by them as well.  The drug Pradaxa is a drug permitted to be used in India by the concerned authorities.  As long as the drug is allowed in India, it is not wrong or illegal to administer it and it is again reiterated that the drug is better than warfarin or Acitrom.  
Dr. Vivek Nangia, Director, Pulmonology, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital stated that on 2nd June, 2014, the patient late Ish Chopra was admitted in the Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital as she was suffering from fever on and off, cough and shotness of breath.  She was treated with Meropenem at home for 3 days and then hospitalized under Dr. Hemant Tewari.  CXR (Chest X-Ray) was unremarkable except for prominent broncho-vascular markings.  She was started on imipenem, teicoplanin, clarithromycin, zocon. Routine lab investigations showed Hb -8.7, TLC -12.1, ESR -120, normal LFT, normal cardiac markers, S. creatinine was 2.3, Blood Urea Nitrogen BUN- 34, Widal, MP smear and malarial antigen were negative.  Coagulation profile and urinalysis were within normal limit Pro BNP (brain natriuretic peptide) was 405, Procalcitonin was 0.14. Bronchoscopy with BAL and TBB (bronchoalveolar lavage and transbronchial biopsy) was done.  Thick secretions were aspirated from B/L -lower lobes.  BAL grew aspergillus flavus. She was started on micafungin and voriconazole.  Trans-Bronchial Biopsy showed mild chronic inflammation.  Cardiology and nephrology opinion were sought and advice incorporated in the treatment. Lasix infusion was started in view of fluid overload, S. creatinine and BUN showed a rising trend S.TSH, whole body Tc 99 scan, SPEP (serum protein electrophoresis) were normal.  She showed no improvement.  CXR worsened and SOB (shortness of breath) increased. Repeat Pro BNP was 997, D-Dimer-283.  She was then transferred for treatment under him.  The treatment was modified accordingly; she was put oncaspofungin, polymyxin B, sulbactam and colistin nebulization.  Voriconazole was continued.  DVT prophylaxis was started (5000 units of fragmin S/C OD) as preventive measure as per International ACCP Guidelines, 2011.  All routine investigations were repeated.  Serum procalcitonin had risen to 0.58, Hb -10.3, TLC -13.1, S. creatinine -2.2, BUN -75, Uric acid - 6.8. USG abdomen showed hepatomegaly (abnormal enlargement of liver) with simple cyst in the liver. Urine culture was negative. HRCT thorax done on10.06.2014 showed nodular opacities in B/L lung parenchyma with tree in bud appearance. Features s/o infective etiology with bronchoalveolar spread of disease.  Nephrology opinion was taken regularly and she was kept in even balance as per nephrologists’ advice.  Blood sugars were managed by the endocrinologist Dr. Alka Jha.  Bronchoscopy was repeated, to assess response to therapy on 11.06.2014.BAL showed branched septate hyphae in smear, but much less in quantity than before.  Gram’s stain showed gram positive cocci, Tab. Linezolid was added to the treatment. Central venous catheter site was changed.  Procalcitonin repeated on 16.06.2014 was 0.93, S. Galactomannan levels were negative (0.42).  Her Hb levels showed a falling trend, fragmin was stopped and one unit PRBC given.  Stool for occult blood was negative.  She was advised DVT pump application for prophylaxis of DVT.  Her S.ACE level was 30.HRCT Thorax repeated on 17.06.2014 showed improvement with decrease in cavitating nodules. NCCT PNS was s/o left maxillary sinusitis(? fungal).   She improved clinically, antibiotics were deescalated.  Polymyxin B and sulbactam were stopped. She started developing fever.  CVP (Central Venous Pressure) tip c/s, urine and blood c/s were done.  HRCT chest done on 23.06.2014 was s/o infective etiology likely fungal with mild B/L pleural effusion. However, no progression of infection was noted.  Fever subsided.  Caspofungin was received for 15 days and subsequently linezolid was stopped.CVP tip culture grew klebsiella pneumonia sensitive only to polymyxin B and colistin, IV colistin was started in renal adjusted doses.  Her urine c/s also grew klebsiella.  Blood c/s was negative.  Cardiology consultation was done in view of persistent arrythmia and Holter monitoring advised.  Holter was s/o sick sinus syndrome, hence, cardarone was stopped.  Her TSH levels were 6.64, Thyroxine 25 mcg was added to the treatment.  Bronchial washings were taken again for micro biological evaluation.  BAL showed aspergillus but only scanty in number and much less than before. S. creatinine levels were checked regularly and were within range. On 27thJune 2014 in the evening, she developed acute breathlessness and desaturation.  Urine output decreased.  She was shifted to MICU.  ABG showed metabolic acidosis.  Chest x-ray was s/o mild bilateral pleural effusion. Urgent ECG and cardiology opinion were done.  ECG showed junctional rhythm, RBBB with secondary ST-T changes in VI - V3. CPKwas 79, CKMB 27, Trop-I negative.  Echo showed no RWMA with EF 55-60%, unlikely of an acute cardiac event.  However, her D- Dimer was 4710 and pro BNP 2380.Procalcitonin was 0.83, 5000 unit of LMWH was given stat and 2500 units added twice daily S/ c. Antibiotics were modified to Doripenem, Teicoplanin, Polymyxin-B andColistin. Voriconazole was continued.  She developed fall in BP non-responsive to fluids, so noradrenaline was started which was tapered off overnight and stopped in the morning.  In view of polymyxin B sensitive Klebsiella growing from CVP tip and urine, despite being on polymyxin B she was started on pentaglobulin infusion.  All routine investigations were repeated, TLC was 15.7, Hb- 7.7, S. creatinine - 1.7, Sodium- 124.  Repeat pro-BNP in the morning was 4770.  D Dimer 4250.  Echo showed RAP -35+ with no new changes.  Nephrologist was seeing her regularly.  She was on BiPAP support 16/6 with Fio2- 30%.  Hemodynamically stable.  Her BAL culture also grew klebsiella. 1-unit PRBC was transfused.  Her urine output continued to be low.  ABG showed worsening of metabolic acidosis.  Dr. Khanduja’s (Nephrologist) opinion was taken and she was started on Lasix infusion.  Later in the night she developed bradycardia (HR - 49/minute).  Urgent ECG was done showed junctional bradycardia, pre-emptively TPI(Temporary Pacemaker insertion) was placed by cardiologist (Dr. Ripen Gupta).  Urine output picked-up subsequently.  She was also reviewed by Dr. Upendra Kaul, (Director and H.O.D department of Cardiology) and he advised same treatment to continue.  Review by Dr. Anoop Mishra was done.  Vasculitis profile was found to be negative.  Eventually TPI was removed.  She was evaluated by Brig. Ashok Rajput HOD Pulmonology of RR Hospital, on the request of the family; the said fact has been documented in the doctors notes by him.  He was in agreement with the line of management. In view of patient developing pressure ulcer over the sacrum, reference was given to plastic surgeon Dr. Rashmi Taneja and advice incorporated into treatment.  Gradually her clinical condition improved and she was shifted back to ward.  She developed low grade fever.  Considering possibility of drug fever, all antibiotics were stopped and blood C/S and urine C/S sent, which were negative. She had no thrombophlebitis (vein inflammation), ulcer was healing.  She developed rash over groin and inframammary area.  Reference was given to Dr. Deepak Vohra dermatologist and frictional dermatitis.  The patient was discharged in a satisfactory and stable condition.  The diagnosis at discharges was aspergillus lung infection, diabetes mellitus sick sinus syndrome with atrial fibrillation with flutter with Intermittent junctional rhythm: An abnormal heart rhythm resulting from impulses coming from a locus of tissue in the area of the atrioventricular node, the junction between atria and ventricles Hypertension chronic kidney disease.  Subsequently, the patient was again admitted on 10th August, 2015 with complaints of burning while passing urine, breathlessness, cough with minimal sputum and high-grade fever.  She was started on IV polymyxin band sulbactam and other supportive medications.  Urine routine report showed, large number of WBC’s and protein (+++).  Her TLC was 22.8 procalcitonin was 9.85 and widal was positive for H antigen (1:80), creatinine was 2.1, so polymyxin dose was modified accordingly.  ESR was 100.  Her potassium was 5.9 which were controlled with k-bind sachet.  Nephrologist opinion was taken and advice incorporated.  Her HRCT chest showed resolution of fluid effusion and clearing of GGO’s (ground opacity) when compared to previous CT chest.  By evening, her blood pressure was 90/60 mmHg with low urinary output, so she was shifted to ICU.  IVF were given but BP did not rise.  Noradrenaline infusion started.  The patient also complained of severe pain on right shoulder for which orthopedic opinion was taking and advice incorporated.  Her Trop I was normal with other cardiac markers.  Her blood pressure recovered with management.  Her blood culture grew E. coli in two samples consecutive days sensitive to imipenem and cefoperazone and sulbactam, netilmicin, Meropenem and amikacin.  Urine culture also grew E. coli (ESBL producing) with colony count of 100,000sensitive to imipenem, ertapenem, cefotaxime + sulbactam, ofloxacin.  Echo showed LVEF 55-60%, Trace TR (RVSP - 25 +RAP).  Antibiotics were stepped down to imipenem and sulbactam.  For her bedsores, plasticsurgeon opinion was taken and advice incorporated.  She gradually improved hemodynamically.  Her TLC and Potassium came down and creatinine also improved.  On 15.08.2014, the patient was shifted to the ward.  On 18.08.2014, her urine R/M showed 3-5 pus cells and urine culture was later found to be negative for bacteria.  However, she developed severe left sided headache which was not subsiding on regular nephro-safe painkillers.  There was no focal neurological deficit found, on examination.NCCT head was done which showed acute right PCA territory-infract.  Despite patient being on Ecosprin and statins.  She was shifted back to MICU.  Neurologist (Dr. Vijay Chandra) advice incorporated. To look for hemorrhage transformation, repeat NCCT was done, which showed no interval changes.  Heparin was avoided in view of large infarct because of risk of hemorrhage.  Clopidogrel was added.  IV antibiotics were stopped on 21.08.2014.  The patient had complaints of constipation and abdominal pain. Gastroenterologist opinion was taken and advice incorporated. Serum amylase and lipase were normal.  She was afebrile.  On 22.18.2, her urine R/M showed 8-10 WBC’s.  She had spike of fever, her urine culture grew E. coli sensitive to amikacin, ertapenem, cefoperazone, sulbactam.  Her proca1 was negative, TLC -12,200. Her antibiotics ertapenem and nitrofurantoin restarted as per sensitivity.  Her fever gradually subsided; her sodium was slightly low which improved conservatively.  On investigation recent TLC was 8,400, K 4.9, LFT was normal, except low albumin and urine R/M showed 3-5/WBC’s.  She was discharged on stable condition with advice to continue single dose IV antibiotic at home. The diagnosis at discharge on 02-0-14 was urosepsis with septic shock with mutli-organ failure right PCA infarct aspergillus chest infection on treatment hyperkalemia diabetes mellitus chronic kidney disease.  Thereafter, she was admitted on 1st December, 2015 with complaints of difficulty in swallowing, pain in back, left limb weakness.  The patient was brought to emergency; she was accessed by neurologist(Dr.  Vijay Chandra).  NCCT head was done in view of reduced spontaneous right sided limb movement which showed no new infarct, old right PCA infarct.  Neurologist’s advice incorporated.  She was started on IV ampicillin, clavulanic acid, Inj. Fluconazole and her usual medication.  Liquid diet was restricted as she had poor swallowing.  Lab reports showed Hb - 12.5, TLC - 13000, ESR - 80, Albumin -2.8, creatinine 1.9, Potassium - 5.3, Sodium – 129.  Urinalysis showed 40-50 pus cells, blood ++, protein +. Urine c/s report is awaited.  Swab culture was sent for the gluteal ulcer and groin. The Urine C/S sent on December 1st, 2014 and reported on December 3rd, 2014 showed 15-20 leukocytes and Klebsiella Pnuemoniae.  The wound swab C/S report sent on December, 1st, 2014 and reported on December, 4th 2014 showed staphylococcus aureus positive.  Nephrologist and the urologist opinion were taken and advice followed.  The patient was better and was discharged on 03-12-2014. The diagnosis on discharge was transient ischemic attack (TIA): A brief episode of neurological dysfunction resulting from an interruption in the blood supply to the brain or the eye, sometimes as a precursor of a stroke.  Oral thrush? esophageal candidiasis: Diagnosis Esophageal candidiasis is an opportunistic infection of the esophagus by candida albicans.  The disease usually occurs in patients in immune-compromised states pyuria?  Urinarytract infection, gluteal ulcer.  

On 26th January, 2015, the patient was again admitted with complaints of abnormal behavior and headache.  The patient was managed conservatively with IV fluids, I/V anti-epileptic and other supportive medications.  She responded well to the treatment and was discharged in a stable condition.  She had right femoral embolism, managed conservatively after discussion with CTU surgeon (Dr. S. Gupta).  Cardiologist Dr. Upendra Kaul’s opinion taken and anti-coagulant added but patient had recurrent bleed after Pradaxa and clexane even at smaller doses.  Loose motions improved after treatment and gastroenterologist opinion, plastic surgeon (Dr. Rashmi Taneja’s) opinion taken for the bedsore. MAS (Minimal Access Surgery) and surgery opinion taken for PR Bleed.  Nephrologist (Dr. Khanduja) managed her CKD as when needed.  He managed her in the ICU and later as a follow- up case of pulmonary aspergillosis.  The patient was afebrile, alert and comfortable at the time of discharge.  The pulses in the right lower limb had improved.   The diagnosis at discharge on 03-03-2015 was secondary aphasia right upper limb weakness, Left femoral embolism.  

He further stated that on 26.01.2015, the patient was admitted to the hospital with history of drowsiness, inability to swallow and speak inability to move left upper and lower limb and excessive crying.  The patient as reiterated was a known case of hypertension, diabetes mellitus, hypothyroid, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, atrial fibrillation, sick sinus syndrome, recent aspergillus lung infection, recurrent urinary tract infections and old Stroke (right posterior cerebellar artery) and Fibromyalgia.  She also had a history of tight total knee replacement due to history of fall in April 2014.The patient earlier was under care and treatment of Dr. Hemant Tiwari, Sr. Consultant, Pulmonology, who resigned from the hospital on 24.06.2014,however on request of the complainant the case, was transferred to him (Dr. Vivek Nangia).  It is stated that on 26.01.2015, the patient was admitted under Dr. Renu Achtani, Sr. consultant, neurology, with complaints as stated above.  CT head was done and showed left recent middle cerebral artery infarct.  On clinical evaluation, the patient was also detected to have right femoral artery thrombus, which could be successfully treated conservatively with medicines, as per consultation of the CTVS senior consultant and surgeon; Dr. Sanjay Gupta.  It is stated that the patient was managed for chronic kidney disease by the department of nephrology and her pulmonology morbidity by him.  Dr. Upender Kaul, Director, Cardiology, was referred to for cardiology complaints and management of anticoagulant for her.  The patient had stabilized, was doing well with the multi- disciplinary care and was set for discharge on 08.02.2015, however, she developed bleeding per-rectally, for which the anti-coagulant tablet clopidrogrel was started for the stroke, had to be stopped.  However, another anticoagulant was resumed again later to prevent risk of recurrence of stroke.  The patient was again observed and had been doing well till she developed fever on 17.02.2015.  Investigations were conducted for the same and it was suspected to be a urinary tract infection, which the patient had history of and a protracted course of antibiotics had to be given as per her culture sensitivity reports.  The patient remained afebrile from 27.02.2015 onwards.  On, 27th February, however, she developed bleeding per rectally again, for which all injectable anti-coagulants were withdrawn after the patient and complainant was explained that only anti-platelets would now be given to the patient due to bleeding.  The cause of bleeding was found to be anal excoriation only and no internal bleed had occurred, as per both gastroenterologist and gastro-surgeon referral.  The patient was stabilized, did well and discharged on 03.03.2015 with stable vitals, as per consensus of the treating team. She was in the best condition that she could have been.

Dr. Vivek Nangia further stated that on 22nd February, 2015, the complainant expressed concern over the perceived mismanagement of sugars and insulin by the nursing staff.  He expressed himself in an aggressive manager to all staff present in the ward.  Despite it being a Sunday, the chief of nursing came to attend to the patient from her residence.  These demands and behavior were common practice for the complainant.  It is submitted due that to inadequately controlled diabetes the patient had been put on four hourly glucose monitoring with insulin dosage tailored to each sugar level.  on 22nd February, 2015, the blood sugar at 12.00 noon was recorded as 235 mg%.  The patient was advised to injection four units of insulin.  The complainant in his usual and harsh interfering, uncooperative tone intervened and asked for the dose to be increased to six units.  The nurse rechecked with the doctor who, in spite of resenting the interference in management agreed to the complainant insistence and asked the nurse to increase the dose of administration of six units, with an advice to recheck sugars after two hours.  Sometime later the nurse who was carefully monitoring the patient rechecked the blood-sugar and found it to be 2325 mg%.  When this was communicated to the doctor, he advised to re-administer insulin; however, the complainant prevented the nurse from administering the prescribed dose of insulin.  It is pertinent to mention here that the nurse was a well an experience nurse with seven years of ICU experience and she was carefully following the instructions of the doctor.  There was nothing abnormal with the management of the case by the nurse.  It is submitted that the since the patient had suffered from the stroke and was unable to swallow and eat on her own, her nutrition had to be looked after by a Ryle’s Tube and the same can be maintained for more than one and half months, if needed be.  This is a tube inserted from the nostril into the esophagus from where feeds/medicines then reach the stomach.  This is routine practice for patients unable to swallow in several clinical conditions.  The tube maintained nourishment for the patient, as the patient had very poor oral intake and to prevent aspiration pneumonia, the patient was planned for PEG being next modality for feeding such patients.  However, PEG insertion had been deferred for the time being due to her co-morbidity and requirement of anti-coagulant, the same had been explained to the attendant of the patient on 7th February, 2015.  

Dr. Renu Achtani Senior Consultant Neurology, Fortis Flt. L.T. RajanDhall Hospital  stated that on 26th January, 2015 the patient late Ish Chopra presented with complaints of headache for two days.  The patient also had an episode of abnormal behavior and an episode of fixed gaze at 10.00 p.m. on the day of admission.  The patient was admitted under the neurology team.  She was diagnosed as a case of aphasia right upper limb weakness and left femoral embolism.  The patient was managed conservatively with IV fluids, IV antiepileptic and other supportive medications.   The patient responded well to the treatment and was discharged in a stable condition.  She had right femoral art embolism managed conservatively after discussion with CTU surgery (Dr. S. Gupta).  Cardiologist, Dr. Upendra Kaul’s opinion was taken anti-coagulant added but the patient had recurrent bleed after Pradaxa and clexane even at smaller doses.  Loose motions improved after the treatment and gastroenterologist opinion, plastic surgeon (Dr. Rashmi Taneja’s) opinion taken for the bedsore.  MAS and Surgery opinion taken for PR bleed.  Nephrologist (Dr. Khanduja) managed her CKD as when needed.  Pulmonology, Dr. Vivek Nangia managed the patient in the ICU and later as a follow-up case of pulmonary aspergillosis.  The patient was afebrile, alert and comfortable at the time of discharge on 3rd March, 2015.  Pulses in the right lower limb have improved.  The patient was discharged on medication on advice to follow-up with a neurology team after one week.  
On enquiry from the Disciplinary Committee, Dr. Sonali Vatsa, Medical Superintendent, Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital stated that as per the information received from the Park Mediclaim, TPA; the x-ray knee joint, x-ray chest, MRI both knee joints, CT angiography of Mrs. Ish Chopra has been returned by the Park Mediclaim, TPA authorities to the complainant Shri Premdatt Chopra.  

The complainant Shri Premdatt Chopra on being asked by the Disciplinary stated that he had not received the x-ray knee joint, x-ray chest, MRI both knee joints, CT angiography of his wife Mrs. Ish Chopra from Park Mediclaim TPA.  

Dr. Sonali Vatsa, Medical Superintendent, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital further stated that the services of Dr. Hemant Tewari were terminated from the Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital on 24th June, 2014.  

In view of the above, the Disciplinary Committee makes the following observations:-

1) It is observed that the patient 74 years old elderly lady who had pre-existing co-morbidities in the form of a chronic respiratory disease (nature of which could not be made out with clarity in the absence of x-rays and CT chest), type II diabetes mellitus, and hypertension.

She had been treated for a granulomatous lung disease in 2009.  She had been treated for possible tuberculosis with modified anti-tuberculosis chemotherapy (INH, Clarithromycin, Ethambutol and Ofloxacin) and steroids.  Duration of therapy was not known.  Since then she had been under the treatment of one Dr K.P.T. Shah.  However, no treatment paper or details from Dr. K.P.t. Shah were made available by the complainant to the Disciplinary Committee.  There after she was been seen at her residence informally by Dr Hemant Tiwari, although no papers to this effect were provided either by the complainant or Dr. Hemant Tiwari.

Her medical journey at Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital begin on 2nd April 2014, when she was first admitted for the first time, under the pulmonology team with breathlessness, cough and expectoration for 4-5 days.  Final diagnosis during this admission was mentioned as LVF, hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease and osteoporosis.  Significant investigations during this admission were :-
· Serum calcium of 7.4 mg/dl

· Serum creatinine of 1.8 mg/dl that increased to 2.0 on 3rd April

· GFR of 33.21 ml/minute

· ECG: prolonged PR interval (indicating first degree heart block)

· ECHO: normal LV function

· Stress thallium: No evidence of stress induced reversible ischemia

· Urine examination revealed 15-20 pus cells (no culture reports were available)

She was discharged on 4th April, 2014.  
Her second admission on 8th April, 2014 also under pulmonology(perhaps for reasons of acquaintance with Dr. Hemant Tiwari).  She was admitted with a history of fall twice followed by pain and swelling in the left lower limb.  For reasons not clear, initial treatment had been for DVT (with heparin infusion, which was subsequently discontinued).  During this admission, she was diagnosed with a tri-malleolar fracture of left leg.  She was subsequently operated simultaneously for the fracture left leg as well as the right knee replacement.  According to the operating surgeon Dr. Gurinder Bedi, necessity for simultaneous surgery was clinical as patient had to be mobilized at the earliest following surgery, and it would not have been possible without improving the weight bearing ability of the right knee which had severe osteoarthritis.  However, radiological investigations demonstrating the severe osteoarthritis were not available in the medical records made available to the Disciplinary Committee.  While Dr. Gurinder Bedi insisted that the entire surgery was done with the consent of Mrs. Ish Chopra and Mr. Premdatt Chopra (the complainant herein), the fact was denied by Mr. Premdatt Chopra.  The consent for surgery has apparently been signed by Mr. Premdatt Chopra.  The patient was operated as a high-risk case that is expected in view of the existing co-morbidities.  Significant investigations during this admission were as follows:

· ECG: demonstrated a 2:1 block

· Serum calcium of 8.4 and then 8.1 on two different occasions.  However, QTc had been normal.

· Serum creatinine was 2.9

· There was proteinuria and 15-20 WBCs in urine

· TLC during this admission was marginally high (11,800 with 84% polymorphs)

· No culture reports were available.

As per the operating surgeon, patient had significant recovery, was mobilized and then discharged on 22 April 2014.  However, it seems the patient was discharged on a urinary catheter.

Third admission of the patient was on 2nd June 2014, again under pulmonology.  Prior to this admission, she had been treated at her residence under supervision of Dr Hemant Tiwari with intravenous meropenem.  During this admission, patient had severe chest infection followed by superadded fungal infection (mentioned as aspergillosis).  Patient received numerous antibiotics as well as anti-fungal agents.  During this admission, the por-BNP levels as well as D-dimer levels were reported to be high (997 and 2830 respectively).  Patient had also received low molecular weight heparin as DVT prophylaxis.  This duration of this admission was almost 42 days, and the patient was discharged on 14th July 2014.  During this admission, Mr. Premdatt Chopra found Dr. Hemant Tiwari indulging in medical malpractice and complained to the hospital management.  Dr. Hemant Tiwari’s association with the hospital was terminated.  However, neither Mr. Premdatt Chopra nor the hospital management could divulge the details about the nature of such malpractice.

The patient was re-admitted again (fourth time) on 6th August 2014, this time with a urinary infection and septicemia with multi-organ failure.  During this admission, patient had complained of severe headache and was found to have an acute infarct in the right posterior carotid artery territory.  However, there was no neurological deficit.  Heparin was not administered, but patient was started on Ecosprin and clopidogrel.  She again remained admitted for almost 28 days before being discharged on 2nd September 2014.

The patient again reported (fifth time) to the hospital with decreased movements of the right side of the body on the 1st of December 2014, and was diagnosed to have oral thrush, esophageal candidiasis and a TIA.  She was discharged on 3rd December, 2014.  Treatment details here do not mention about anything that was done for candidiasis.

The patient was again admitted for the 6th time on 26th January 2015 with fresh neurological problem (aphasia with right upper limb weakness), under Dr Renu Achtani of the Neurology department; as well as acute embolism of the left femoral artery secondary to atrial fibrillation.  CT had revealed a fresh infarct in the area of the left middle cerebral artery.  During this treatment, patient was seen by cardiologist Dr Upender Kaul, who advised treatment with Pradaxa (dabigatran etaxilate) for atrial fibrillation.  The patient had two episodes of minor bleeding with Pradaxa, which according to the neurologist Dr Renu Achtani was discontinued.  However, according to Mr. Premdatt Chopra, it was continued for a substantial period of time.  The same could not be substantiated from records.  The patient was recovering but developed fever on 6th February, which again resulted in sepsis and the patient had a prolonged hospital stay up to 3rd March 2015, when she was discharged.  Mr. Premdatt Chopra alleged that at this time the patient was not in a position to be discharged, with the hospital authorities contending that she could not have been better than the condition that she had been discharged in.

The patient stayed at home for about 10 days and reported back to hospital on 14th March 2015 with severe sepsis and multi-organ failure when she was denied admission by the Flt Lt Rajan Dhall Fortis hospital (apparently due to non-availability of bed).  She was subsequently admitted to Max Super Speciality Hospital, where she breathed her last two days later on 16th March, 2015.
2) It is observed that while no negligence can be seen during the course of the management, the following observations are pertinent to be made :-
a) The patient had multiple co-morbidities but had been fairly active till the time she sustained a tri-malleolar fracture of the left lower limb.
b) Following the combined surgery on both limbs after a written statement, she could never regain the functional status of the pre-operative period or as envisaged by the operating surgeon.  The Disciplinary Committee is unable to comment on the necessity of the right knee surgery due to non-availability of radiological investigations.
3) It is observed that the complainant Mr. Premdatt Chopra has raised a number of queries (issues) that required to be addressed by the Disciplinary Committee.
a) The reason why the patient was admitted first under pulmonology seems to be based on the social relationship that existed between Mr. Premdatt Chopra and Dr Hemant Tiwari, and both of them seem responsible for the same rather than any clinical indication, which required the patient to be admitted under orthopedics.
b) The Disciplinary Committee does not agree with the observations made by the complainant regarding calcium levels which previously had been even lower (7.4 during the first admission). However, as ECG changes were not indicative of significant hypocalcemia, it does not seem to have a bearing on the ultimate outcome.

c) All medicines used for treatment have their share of side effects and their usage is based after outweighing the risks.  Same is the case for use of Dabigatran (Pradaxa) in atrial fibrillation.  Bleeding complications secondary to Pradaxa do occur but as per the available literature the risk has been described as lower when compared to warfarin and acitrom.
d) While PEG is a better method of maintaining nutrition when compared to ryle’s tube, it is not uncommon to maintain nutrition by ryle’s tube for a substantial period of time.  Aspiration in the elderly can occur both with ryle’s tube as well as PEG.
e) It was probably not proper on the part of Fortis management to deny admission to the patient (although they claim the same to be because of non-availability of bed) whom they had admitted 6 times within a 8 month period that too for over a gross total of over 100 days.  It was the moral responsibility of the hospital to admit such a patient during a terminal illness.  What prompted them to do so, was perhaps a souring relationship with Mr. Premdatt Chopra as every subsequent admission made the chances of survival bleak.
f) The allegation of malpractice by Dr. Hemant Tiwari could not be probed in the absence of any specific point given by either Mr. Premdatt Chopra or the Fortis hospital administration.
In view of the above, it is the decision of the Disciplinary Committee that no medical negligence can be attributed on the part of doctors of Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital in the treatment administered to the complainant’s wife Mrs. Ish Chopra at Fortis Flt. Lt. Rajan Dhall Hospital.  

Complaint stands disposed. 
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The Order of the Disciplinary Committee dated 21st February, 2019 was confirmed by the Delhi Medical Council in its meeting held on 28th February, 2019. 

   By the Order & in the name      








                of Delhi Medical Council 
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                                         Secretary

Copy to :- 

1) Shri. Premdatt Chopra, r/o- 937, Sector-A, Pocket-C, Vasant Kunj New Delhi-110070.
2) Dr. Upendra Kaul, Through Medical Superintendent, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital, Sector-B, Pocket-1, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi-110070.

3) Dr. Hemant Tiwari, House No.4247, Sector-B 5/6, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi-110070.
4) Dr. Gurinder Bedi, Through Medical Superintendent, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital, Sector-B, Pocket-1, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi-110070.

5) Medical Superintendent, Fortis Flt. L.T. Rajan Dhall Hospital, Sector-B, Pocket-1, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, Vasant Kunj, New Delhi-110070.
6) Deputy Secretary, Medical Council of India, Pocket-14, Sector-08, Phase-I, Dwarka, New Delhi-110077.(w.r.t. No. MCI-211(2)(102)/(complaint)2016-/Ethics-163606 dated 01.02.2016)-for information.

                                   (Dr. Girish Tyagi)

                                                   Secretary
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